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Setting the course 
for a modern service

Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia

National Office 
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Sydney NSW 2000 
T 02 8259 8100 
F 02 9247 3351 
W www.flyingdoctor.org.au 

How you can help
Whilst the Royal Flying Doctor Service receives some 
support from Commonwealth, State and Territory 
governments, we rely heavily on fundraising and donations 
from the community to purchase and medically equip our 
aircraft and to support other health initiatives.

 
Send a cheque (made payable to the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia) to: 
RFDS National Office 
Level 8, 15-17 Young Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

 
Phone us on 02 8259 8100 or 1800 467 435 
Visit our website www.flyingdoctor.org.au
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This year the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service celebrated 85 years of providing 
the finest care to the furthest corner. 
With 21 bases, 63 aircraft and over 
1000 staff, more than 290,000 patients 
have this year benefited from the 
‘mantle of safety’ Royal Flying Doctor 
Service founder Reverend John Flynn 
envisaged for communities living 
in rural and remote Australia.

Demand for Royal Flying Doctor Service 
services is higher than ever, with many 
remote communities relying on the 
Flying Doctor as the only provider of 
primary medical care. With one patient 
contact every two minutes, we are 
the largest rural and remote health 
service provider and go where few 
would venture.
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Increasing demand for health services and the 
changing health landscape brings with it new 
challenges. With an established health care 
infrastructure and a growing service breadth, 
we look forward to continuously innovating 
to meet the growing need for our services.
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The Year’s 
Highlights

Efficiency 
measures
introduced 
(rostering and 
service delivery)

National

ICT 
strategy
finalised

37,928
Aeromedical 
evacuations

15,819
clinics 
conducted

295,156
patient 
contacts
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26.6 
million
kilometres 
flown

Rural 
Women’s 
GP Service
contract extended

Mental 
health
program 
contract 
extended

Celebrated

85 years
of bringing the 
finest care to the 
furthest corners
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Demand for our 
services is higher 
than ever. Inter-
hospital patient 
transports in regional 
and metropolitan 
areas are continuing 
to increase in line with 
activity in the rest of 
the health system. 
Meanwhile, remote 
emergency evacuations 
have reached record 
levels largely due to 
surges in resources 
and farming sectors.

Five priorities for the future

This has been a big year for the Royal 
Flying Doctor Service, and one of 
development and growth. Funders and 
communities are expecting more from 
health providers. They are seeking greater 
efficiencies and effectiveness of services 
along with sensible priorities. Information 
sharing, planning and collaboration, both 
nationally and locally, are needed to drive 
real health gains.

The concept of ‘fairness’ must be at the 
heart of the Australian health system. To 
this end, the Royal Flying Doctor Service 
is committed to five priorities to improve 
access and equity: 

1 > Support for people 
living in remote and 
rural areas 

2 > Improvement in 
health outcomes for 
Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander peoples 

3 > Improved access 
to oral health care

4 > Improved mental 
health treatment 
and support services 

5 > Timely access to 
emergency and 
planned specialist 
hospital surgical 
and medical care  

A national priority

There is clear evidence that health 
gains are achieved through consistent 
access to dental care. There is equally 
clear evidence that such access is 
sadly lacking across much of rural and 
remote Australia. The Royal Flying 
Doctor Service is determined to address 
the issue and has identified oral health 
as a national priority.

Oral health services now operate in 
every State. While these services already 
show clinical benefits, most operate 
on time-limited funding and cover 
limited communities. We see significant 
potential for a viable program of remote 
oral care using existing Royal Flying 
Doctor Service transport and service 
infrastructure.

A commitment to care

We continue to work with the 
Commonwealth Government to 
establish a funding model that supports 
our increasing levels of activity. We are 
also overhauling national reporting 
and examining efficiencies across our 
‘traditional services’ operating bases. 
Our aim is to establish a more 
transparent system to promote 
efficiency and to inform the debate 
on costs and priorities for delivering 
remote health care.

A national strategy for the 
development of our Information 
and Communications Technology 
(ICT) systems is complete and our 
National and Section Boards are 
also coordinating a national strategy 
for Royal Flying Doctor Service 
engagement in improving the health 
of indigenous Australians. Royal 
Flying Doctor Service Sections are 
also building strong alliances with the 
Community Controlled Health sector, 
the developing Medicare Locals, and 
State and Territory health departments.

Chairman’s 
& CEO’s 
Report
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Thank you

Yet again, we’ve received strong 
support from communities and 
donors in our endeavours. A new 
fundraising initiative for the next 
reporting year that will target young 
urban audiences and broaden our 
support base is well advanced, and 
we look forward to reporting on it 
next year.

To our funders, government and 
private, and our supporters who 
continue to be most generous with 
their time and contributions, we 
say a very big thank you. Your help 
provides stability to the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service in a challenging 
health-funding environment, and 
ensures that our connection to 
community is stronger than ever. 

The National Board members, all 
of whom contribute their time on 
a voluntary basis, have continued 
their strong support and direction. 
In particular we would like to thank 
outgoing chair Major General 
Michael Jeffery AC AO (Mil) CVO 
MC (Retd) for his leadership, and 
acknowledge Ms Amanda Vanstone 
who we welcomed as our new chair 
in September 2013. 

Finally, thank you to the staff of the 
National Office. You have worked 
tirelessly to progress the national 
agenda. We now have a team 
dedicated to Royal Flying Doctor 
Service staff, our partners, funders 
and communities. Your efforts ensure 
that those who live, work and travel 
across regional and remote Australia 
can always rely on the finest of care 
from the Royal Flying Doctor Service.

Michael Reid 
Acting Chairman

Greg Rochford 

Chief Executive Officer

Facts at a glance

Australian Government 25%

State and Territory governments 45% 

Fundraising 17%

Other (e.g. private contracts) 13%

Where our funding comes from

Service area covered…

7,150,000km2

For the year ended 30 June 2013 Daily Average Year

Patient Contacts 809 295,156 (1)

Patient Transports 142 51,651  (2)

Health Care Clinics 43 15,819

Distance Flown (kms) 72,919 26,615,486

Number of Landings 207 75,711

Telehealth 245 89,516

Number of Aircraft 63  (3)

Royal Flying Doctor Service Bases 21  (4)

Staff Numbers (Headcount) 1,163

Staff FTE (Full Time Equivalent) 957.83

(1) Includes patients at clinics, patients transported, and telehealth

(2) Includes primary evacuations, inter-hospital transfers, patients transported from a clinic and repatriations

(3) Does not include aircraft which will be decommissioned in 2013-14

(4) A Royal Flying Doctor Service Base is a health facility that houses an aircraft and provides health services
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Advocating for better outcomes

Access is at the heart 
of these challenges. 
And this is where 
the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service can 
provide the most 
assistance.  Whilst 
these challenges are 
clearly complex and 
multifaceted, one 
common factor is 
the poor access to 
health care services. 
This includes primary 
medical care in rural 
and remote Australia. 

The tyranny of distance and lack of 
transport are major impediments to 
accessing health care for many rural 
and remote Australians. 

The vital transport systems – that either 
deliver services to the people, or bring 
patients to the services – are critical for 
health care systems across rural and 
remote Australia. 

The cost of this travel is considerable, 
given the vast distances between 
dispersed populations across Australia. 
These heavy cost burdens – on both 
consumers and providers of health care 
services – are the reality of remote, rural 
and regional health care. 

Increasing centralisation of health 
services in major regional centres 
results in longer journeys for patients, 
which often disrupt their home lives 
and livelihoods. 

To access these centralised services, 
patients increasingly rely on private and 
community transport providers if they 
do not have access to, or cannot use, 
private transport.  

The time spent accessing this health care 
creates disruption in their personal and 
professional lives, given that many of 
these people work on farms or in roles 
that don’t stop when they are not there 
– the effect of this can jeopardise family 
income and put pressure on families and 
carers who are left behind during this 
period.  

With these critical factors in mind, the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service believes that 
rural and remote Australians should have 
the same access to quality health care as 
those people living in metropolitan areas. 

The Challenges

1 >
The health and life expectancy of 
remote and rural Australians is 
considerably worse than that of 
their metropolitan counterparts.

2 >
The health of Australians deteriorates 
with increasing remoteness, and 
their exposure to health risks 
becomes greater.

3 >
On average, rural and remote 
Australians are older, and experience 
a higher incidence of chronic illness 
and disability, than those living in 
metropolitan areas.

4 >
They are also of a lower socio-
economic status than their 
metropolitan cousins and are 
confronted by higher levels of 
health risk-factors including poor 
nutrition, lack of exercise, obesity, 
smoking, harmful levels of alcohol 
consumption, and injuries.

5 >
No health and wellbeing issue in 
Australia is worse or more concerning 
than the impoverishment and 
immensely poor health status of 
indigenous people in this country.
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What are we doing 
to overcome 
these challenges?
The Royal Flying Doctor Service 
National Board has made it a strategic 
priority to play a stronger role in 
advocating for – and delivering on 
– the twin objectives of enhanced 
health services and improved health 
outcomes to all corners of rural and 
remote Australia. 

This is in addition to continuing to 
support our emergency life-saving 
services in remote communities 
of Australia. 

Primary Health Care is lacking

For many years, Royal Flying Doctor 
Service doctors, nurses and pilots have 
reported that the emergency patients 
they attend to show symptoms for health 
problems, which are entirely preventable 
– if they had better local access to 
Primary Health Care. 

While the Royal Flying Doctor Service has 
a long and proud tradition of providing 
emergency services for rural and remote 
Australians, this emergency work needs 
to be augmented and supported through 
the increasing provision of primary health 
care services.

To support this, the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service successfully renegotiated 
an extension to the Commonwealth 
Government-funded, Royal Flying Doctor 
Service-run Rural Women’s General 
Practitioner Service until June 2015. 

The reason this program is so important 
is that it provides around 160 rural and 
remote communities across Australia 
with the ability to see a female general 
practitioner for women’s health, health 
promotion and related primary health 
care services. 

We are proud to continue this program, 
through these extended funds.

The Royal Flying Doctor Service is also 
focusing its attention on mental health 
services, given the significant contribution 
of mental illness to the burden of illness in 
rural and remote communities. 

We operate regional mental health 
services in Queensland, New South 
Wales and Central Australia, which utilise 
Commonwealth and State funding. 

Mental health professionals either 
accompany regular Royal Flying Doctor 
Service clinic flights, or they operate 
independently to provide both clinical 
services and community development 
initiatives. 

Once again, this year saw the Royal 
Flying Doctor Service successful in 
negotiating an extension of this important 
Commonwealth Government-funded 
program until June 2014.

Greatest health needs come first

It may not always be possible to support 
the preference in small rural and remote 
communities for locally provided health 
care services, due to small populations 
and health workforce shortages.

Throughout the year we utilised 
our existing health and transport 
infrastructure, of 21 operational bases 
and 63 aircraft, our effective hub-and-
spoke service delivery model, and 
our strong reputation of delivering 
consistent health care to continue to 
deliver fly-in, fly-out health services.

These include sustainable general 
practice services to large parts of 
remote Australia. 

In addition, we have leveraged off our 
traditional operations to increase the 
availability of more comprehensive 
primary health care services to rural and 
remote Australia.

Oral health services are critically 
under-represented – but we have 
the solution

Over the last few years, the Royal 
Flying Doctor Service has been quietly 
and steadily operating a number 
of successful oral health programs 
across Australia. 

Additional new outreach dental services 
have been established this year in 
north-west NSW, Queensland, Western 
Australia and northern Victoria.

Furthermore, the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service developed a plan for 
a national rural-and-remote dental 
health program that piggy-backed 
off its extensive existing aeromedical 
infrastructure. This is in response to 
the Commonwealth Government’s 
announcements of funding for new 
dental services.

While the outcomes of these 
negotiations were uncertain at the 
time of publication, we would urge 
governments to join us in supporting 
a more comprehensive program to 
ensure adequate oral health services 
across rural and remote communities 
within Australia.

Advocating for better outcomes
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Supportive partnerships create 
targeted widespread change

In rural and some parts of remote 
Australia the Royal Flying Doctor Service 
works alongside a much larger group of 
health service providers. We see these 
partnerships as integral to delivering 
vital health care services more quickly 
and efficiently than if we were to do so 
without this support. 

In these situations our approach is to 
use our experience in innovative rural 
and remote service delivery models 
– and our capacity in transporting 
patients and health professionals – to 
support aligned health service provision.  

Together, organisations and 
communities working in partnership 
can deliver a more effective and 
sustainable level and mix of health 
services to rural and remote areas.

We also work in partnership with other 
experts and organisations in health 
promotion, illness prevention, early 
intervention and primary health care 
service delivery to ensure high quality, 
evidence-based primary health care for 
rural and remote Australians.

This year the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service has worked hard to develop 
effective regional and national 
collaborations with other relevant 
organisations, such as Medicare Locals, 
Local Health Networks, Aboriginal 
Community Controlled Health 
Organisations, local government and 
the communities themselves.

The result of these partnerships is to 
maximise service delivery and exploit 
resource distribution to areas most in 
need, as well as avoid duplication.

The Sections have also been working 
closely with universities and with 
workforce and training agencies to offer 
education and workforce opportunities 
for the future health workforce – both 
students and professionals. This way, 
students and professionals can sample 
what a rural job and lifestyle has 
to offer.

Advocacy

The Royal Flying Doctor Service has long 
been recognised as a leader and innovator 
in the world of rural and remote health 
care. However, in the past we have often 
left it to others to respond on our behalf 
on matters of topical interest.

This year we have sought to correct 
this imbalance at the national level 
and develop the necessary advocacy 
capacity in National Office to tap in to 
the Sectional expertise and experience. In 
doing this, we are fully supported as the 
expert voice on the specials needs of rural 
and remote Australia.

We are now speaking out more to 
advance the case for the improved health 
and wellbeing for all those who live in 
rural and remote Australia. Foundational 
to our advocacy work is the belief that 
people living in rural and remote areas 
are entitled to a fair share of national 
resources for health – and that the health 
system needs to find better ways of 
listening and responding efficiently and 
equitably to community needs.

Closing the gap

We have always had a long-term 
commitment to help close the gap 
between indigenous and non-indigenous 
Australians when it comes to access to 
health care and general health status.

This is especially important given that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples make up about 35% of our 
traditional catchment population. 

This year the Royal Flying Doctor Service 
National Board began a strategic journey 
to develop practical actions that we can 
take to build stronger relationships and 
enhance respect between the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service and Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander peoples. 

This important development began with 
a workshop for the National Board in 
Alice Springs, which will be rolled out 
to Section Boards in the next financial 
year. These educational workshops 
will culminate in the development of a 
national Indigenous Engagement Strategy. 

While acknowledging that the process 
will be long and at times confronting, 
the National Board is committed to this 
important undertaking.

Our aim is to use our experience 
to contribute to national policy 
developments that affect rural 
and remote communities 
around Australia.
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REGIONAL
RURAL
REMOTE

Our strategic model
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Inter-hospital
patient transport

RURAL

Priority primary
health care

Health provider
transport

Inter-hospital
patient transport

REMOTE

Comprehensive
primary health care
(includes emergency
evacuations)

Health provider
transport



Set up to provide a 
‘Mantle of Safety’ 
to those living and 
working in outback 
Australia, the Royal 
Flying Doctor Service 
has since grown to 
become an integral 
part of National, State 
and Territory health 
care systems. 

Last year, we provided the finest care 
to over 290,000 Australians, which 
equates to one patient every two 
minutes.

Over the last year, we have continued 
to provide tailored health services to 
the people of regional, rural and remote 
Australia, despite significant funding 
challenges.

State by State: 
Inter-hospital patient transport

In 2012/13, our inter-hospital transfer 
service enabled over 32,000 patients 
to be transported by plane in remote, 
rural and regional settings to get the 
specialist treatment and life-saving 
surgery they needed. Often complex, 
inter-hospital transfers require the 
coordination of clinical staff, pilots and 
aircraft; and specific requirements differ 
between States.

Western Australia

We operate the enitre aeromedical system 
in Western Australia, coordinating and 
providing aircraft, pilots and clinical staff 
from a network of bases that include 
Jandakot, Kalgoorlie, Meekatharra, Port 
Hedland and Derby.

Queensland

Inter-hospital transfers from more 
populated areas are coordinated through 
the State’s own clinical and aircraft 
coordination centre. The Royal Flying 
Doctor Service provides aircraft, pilots, 
and nurses from our metropolitan bases 
in Brisbane, Rockhampton, Bundaberg 
and Townsville. 

In more remote parts, local clinical 
coordination is done by our medical 
practitioners in Cairns, Charleville and 
Mount Isa. In addition to providing 
the planes, pilots and medical staff as 
necessary, we also provide the medical 
and nursing staff.

New South Wales

NSW Ambulance’s clinical and aircraft 
coordination centre organises inter-
hospital transfers from more populous 
regions east of the Darling River. 

The Royal Flying Doctor Service provides 
aircraft and pilots from bases at Mascot 
and Dubbo, as well as nurses and doctors 
for the Dubbo planes. 

West of the Darling River, we run the 
whole aeromedical service for remote 
NSW from our Broken Hill traditional base.

South Australia 

For most inter-hospital transfers, the 
SA Ambulance Service, Medstar, provides 
clinical coordination, while the Royal 
Flying Doctor Service organises aircraft 
coordination from our Port Augusta 
Operations Control Centre. While we 
provide aircraft, pilots and flight nurses, 
Medstar provides the majority of doctors. 
In remote parts of South Australia, 
we have a greater role, just as we do 
in Queensland and NSW, running the 
entire aeromedical service from our Port 
Augusta traditional base.

Northern Territory

The Royal Flying Doctor Service provides 
aircraft, pilots and flight nurses, with 
doctors coming from Alice Springs 
Hospital. In the southern part of the State, 
Northern Territory health staff arrange 
clinical coordination, while we coordinate 
aircraft from Port Augusta. 

Tasmania

Here we provide aircraft and pilots 
for inter-hospital transfers from our 
Launceston base. 

Victoria

We operate a non-emergency 
inter-hospital transfer service across 
country areas using road vehicles 
and fixed-wing aircraft. This year we 
transported nearly 14,000 patients 
principally by road.

Health Services
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Beyond the patient: 
health provider transport 

When spare seats are available on 
regular Royal Flying Doctor Service 
clinic flights, we carry non-Royal Flying 
Doctor Service health professionals to 
remote and rural locations, to assist 
them in their roles. 

In the Cape York region, where we 
operate larger passenger planes, 
these include, amongst others, GPs, 
medical specialists, or allied health and 
dental staff.

By transporting both Royal Flying 
Doctor Service and non-Royal Flying 
Doctor Service health providers in this 
way, we are supporting the delivery of 
a greater diversity of health services in 
remote communities.

We also formally facilitate flying 
clinics for health staff from other 
organisations.

For example, in 2012/13 we:

•  Arranged over 1,000 flying clinics, 
which over 10,000 patients attended 
in Western Australia.

•  Operated close to 1,100 flying clinics 
in Central Australia, which saw over 
15,000 patients. 

•  Flew over 1,000 clinic flights for the 
Rural Aerial Health Service, which 
we operate in NSW. These include 
transporting medical and surgical 
specialists and allied health workers, 
and providing fly-in, fly-out health 
care support to those in NSW’s 
remote and rural areas. This service 
saw nearly 16,000 patients.

•  Transported health care clinicians 
from Port Augusta and Whyalla in 
South Australia to the Eyre Peninsula, 
and the northern and far-western 
regions of the state. This year we 
facilitated nearly 900 clinics, attended 
by about 3,750 patients.

•  Helped to bring surgical and obstetric 
and gynaecological services from 
Roma Hospital in the south-east.

A multidisciplinary approach to 
priority primary health care 

Though aeromedical work is the 
emotional heartland of Royal Flying 
Doctor Service operations, increasingly 
we have been filling health service gaps in 
rural and remote Australia.

While our organisation is known as the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service, the Royal 
Flying Doctor Service has evolved to 
deliver a range of multidisciplinary health 
care services in the areas of mental health, 
oral health, child and family health, allied 
health and health promotion. 

This focus extends well beyond John 
Flynn’s original concept of using air 
ambulances to pick up the sick and 
injured. But just as John Flynn was 
responsive to the needs of those times, 
we aim to carry on in the same spirit, 
responsive to the needs of our times. 

Many women would prefer to see a 
female doctor rather than a male doctor, 
but in parts of rural and remote Australia 
this is not always possible. To address 
this, the Royal Flying Doctor Service 
operates the Commonwealth-funded 
Rural Women’s General Practitioner 
Service, which arranges for female GPs to 
visit around 160 communities. This year, 
the Royal Flying Doctor Service delivered 
close to 1,300 clinics and saw nearly 
15,000 patients.  

The diverse demands of 
remote health care

While we work closely with other service 
providers, such as Government-run health 
services and indigenous community 
controlled health services, the Royal 
Flying Doctor Service is often the only 
health care provider in many parts of 
remote Australia. 

This means our work covers the entire 
health care spectrum from preventative 
medicine to emergency care. This can 
include responding to emergencies, 
airlifting patients to regional and city 
hospitals, regular general practice and 
nursing clinics, and much more. 

These services are backed up by 
24-hour telephone support and access to 
medical chests, so that medication can be 
prescribed over the telephone.

This year, across some two-thirds of 
Australia, the Royal Flying Doctor Service 
has undertaken:

• nearly 5,000 aeromedical responses and 
evacuations;

• just over 3,500 general practice clinics 
and about 3,100 nursing clinics;

• about 90,000 telehealth consultations; 

• and overseen 2,568 medical chests.

Just as John Flynn was responsive 
to the needs of those times, we aim 
to carry on in the same spirit, 
responsive to the needs of our times.
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The Royal Flying Doctor 
Service is the largest 
rural and remote health 
service provider in 
Australia. We go where 
few would venture.

The above map shows just a selection of paths flown 
by the Royal Flying Doctor Service. In 2013, we flew over 
7.1 million km2 covering over 90% of Australia.
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Beechcraft
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63 Aircraft
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Finance & Corporate

In our 85th year, our focus has been to ensure we have 
sufficient resources to enable the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service to continue to provide crucial health services to 
communities across Australia for the next 85 years. 

A sustainable funding model

The challenge

Demand for Royal Flying Doctor Service services is at an all-
time high; since 2006, primary evacuations have increased 
by 26% and flying hours by 20%. 

Yet this significant growth in Royal Flying Doctor Service 
activity isn’t reflected in our current Commonwealth 
Funding Agreement, which is based on 2006 activity levels. 

Unfortunately, our efforts to make up the shortfall of $16m 
in 2012/13 through our 2013 budget submission were 
unsuccessful. 

The future

Our priority now, in collaboration with the Commonwealth 
Government, is to create a new funding model that 
accurately reflects this new reality – to provide a more 
efficient and transparent model that benefits both the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service and our funding body. 

The existing grant-based system depends on a fixed set of 
assumptions and it does not have the flexibility to keep track 
of changes in activity levels over a four-year funding term. 

The process

In April 2013 a policy framework was developed for a 
potential new funding system to take into account changes 
in activity levels, as well as funding the cost of 24/7 
availability for emergency evacuations. 

The next step is to work together with the Commonwealth 
Government to implement a new funding model and 
commence negotiations for the 2015–19 four-year 
Funding Agreement.

A key requirement for the development of a fairer funding 
system is a cost model that accurately costs the broad 
spectrum of services that the Royal Flying Doctor Service 
delivers throughout Australia. There are a number of 
challenges involved with this, due primarily to the multiple 
funding-sources and different service-delivery models 
applicable to the various Sections. 

The Royal Flying Doctor Service is working with the 
Department of Health to agree an appropriate cost-model 
for services funded by the Australian Government. The 
intention is to complete this process over the next twelve 
months. 

In the meantime, the cost model used by the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service over recent years has been developed in 
the National accounting system to automate the costing 
process. This system will be independently reviewed 
during the next twelve months and it will form the basis 
for providing costing information across all Sections for 
2013/14.  
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Creating more efficiencies

Under the provisions of its 2011–15 Commonwealth Funding 
Agreement, the Royal Flying Doctor Service provides a 24/7 
capability from twelve Royal Flying Doctor Service bases.  

As part of our efficiency drive, we are working to define a 
service level profile, including response times for primary 
evacuations. This is a crucial project for the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service, as it will allow us to map out and better manage future 
demand for our services. We anticipate completing this project 
by the end of 2013.  

Upward cost-pressures experienced in all States has seen 
Sections implementing a wide range of strategies in an effort 
to cut costs and provide services more efficiently. 

Two key strategies being implemented to improve the 
efficiency of our core-funded activities include: 

1. Improving rostering arrangements for aeromedical 
operations; and

2. Improving service delivery arrangements for clinics.

Key Performance Indicators, such as cost per flying hour / 
distance travelled, tracking the number of patients transported 
per flight leg, and reducing overhead expenditure, have also 
been developed to monitor progress.

Other cost-saving strategies have delivered significant benefits 
during the year, including:

•  The foreign exchange contract for capital funding, which 
has protected the Royal Flying Doctor Service from the 
decline in the value of the Australian dollar against the US 
dollar. 

•  Our key role in the development of the Government’s policy 
to provide a subsidy, funded by the Charities Maritime and 
Aviation Support Program and by the Department of Climate 
Change and Energy Efficiency. This is aimed at offsetting the 
impact of carbon pricing on the cost of aviation fuel and has 
generated savings for us in the region of $1.4m.

It is essential for the Royal Flying Doctor Service to continue 
implementing efficiency strategies, as the challenges of 
providing cost-effective health care services in remote parts of 
Australia will remain for the foreseeable future.

Transparent reporting

On 1 July 2012, a new quarterly-performance reporting regime 
was launched to improve the timeliness and content of our 
reports to the Commonwealth Government. Our Business 
Intelligence (BI) system – which we use to publish and 
monitor activity levels and service delivery performance – 
has been upgraded to include this new quarterly-reporting, 
and consequently improve data analysis carried out by the 
National Office.  

This analysis is critical in informing our funding body of changes 
in activity levels nationwide and ensuring we are adequately 
funded. As demand for Royal Flying Doctor Service services 
in remote parts of Australia fluctuates greatly, it is important 
for the Australian Government to understand our changing 
requirements.  

The enhanced BI system is already giving the National Office 
a clearer perspective on service trends and needs, such as the 
rise in primary evacuations as a result of the growth in mining 
activities at Western Operations, and the increase in primary 
health care activity as a result of growing numbers of patients 
attending GP and nursing clinics.

Effective monitoring

The National Office has coordinated an external audit of the 
Commonwealth-funded traditional services data and reporting 
systems used by Royal Flying Doctor Service Sections and the 
National Office itself. 

The main objectives were to check compliance against the 
Commonwealth Funding Agreement and to find ways of 
improving the management and reporting of data. This audit, 
completed in May 2013, made a number of recommendations for 
system enhancements, which have since been incorporated into 
a national Information and Communications Technology (ICT) 
strategy.

This strategy, endorsed by the Sections, offers a vision and a plan 
for nationwide improvements to the design and configuration 
of applications and systems. This will lead to more efficient and 
accurate reporting and, in turn, better communication over a 
three- to five-year period.

Demand for Royal Flying Doctor Service 
services is at an all-time high … yet this 
significant growth in Royal Flying Doctor 
Service activity isn’t reflected in our current 
Commonwealth Funding Agreement.
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Our Board

Major General Michael Jeffery 
AC, AO (Mil), CVO, MC (Retd)

Chairman 
Resigned November 2012.

Former Governor-General.

Mr Michael Reid

Acting Chairman and Independent 
Director of the RFDS National Board

Consultant, Michael Reid and Associates; 
Consultant, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
(PwC).

Former Director General Queensland 
Health (2008–11); Former Director 
General, NSW Health (1997–2002).

Ms Loretta Reynolds 
BEc, LLB, F Fin, FAICD

Director of RFDS Central Operations

Corporate Partner and Chairman, 
Thomsons Lawyers; Non-executive 
Director of the State Theatre Company of 
South Australia.

Former Director, Arafura Resources 
Limited and Director, MTAA Super.

Mr William Murray Rogers AM

Chairman of RFDS Victorian Section

Chairman, McLachlan Consolidated 
Fishermen; Chairman, Caravan Court.

Former Executive Chairman, Kellogg 
(Aust) Pty Ltd; Chairman, Australian 
Food Council; CEO, AWB Ltd; Chairman, 
Single Vision Grains Australia; Chairman, 
Australian Grain Technologies.

Current Member: Agribusiness Association 
of Australia.

Mr John Robert Milhinch OAM

President of RFDS South Eastern Section

Chairman, Royal Flying Doctor Service 
National Superannuation Fund; Director, 
Europcar Asia Pacific.

Former General Manager Strategic 
Investments and Investor Relations, Accor 
Asia Pacific.

Mr Richard Alder

Director of RFDS Western Operations

Member of the Audit and Risk Committee. 

Retired Financial Advisor.

Mr Malcolm White

President of RFDS Tasmanian Section

Chief Executive Officer Tasmanian 
Skills Institute.

Mr Mark Gray 
BEcon (Hons), SF Fin, FAIM, GAICD

Chairman of RFDS Queensland Section

Chairman of the Remuneration and 
Appointments Committee; a member 
of the Finance and Audit Committee; 
Current Chief Executive Officer, 
Queensland Competition Authority.

Former Chief Executive Officer, 
Queensland Commission of Audit; 
Executive Director, BDO; Office Head, 
Macquarie Group in Brisbane; Divisional 
Director, Macquarie Capital Advisors.
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National Board of Directors

The National Board of Directors is 
committed to responsible corporate 
governance. In accordance with the 
Australian Stock Exchange Corporate 
Governance Council’s Principles of 
Good Corporate Governance and Best 
Practice Recommendations, the Board 
has established a sound framework of 
corporate governance practices that 
it considers appropriate for the Royal 
Flying Doctor Service of Australia. The 
Board recognises that it is accountable 
to members and stakeholders for 
the performance of the organisation 
and, to that end, is responsible for 
implementing a system of corporate 
governance that operates in the 
best interests of members while also 
addressing the interests of other key 
stakeholders. The Board also recognises 
that corporate governance is not a 
static matter and regularly reviews the 
organisation’s policies and practices to 
ensure that they remain current and in 
accordance with best practice.

Board role and responsibility

The Board guides and monitors the 
performance and management of the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia 
on behalf of the members, by whom it is 
elected and to whom it is accountable. 
The Board Charter clearly defines the 
matters that are reserved for the Board, 
and those that the Board has delegated to 
management.

The principal responsibilities of the 
Board include:

• contributing to the development 
and implementation of 
organisation strategy;

• monitoring the corporate and financial 
performance of the organisation;

• approving the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia Financial 
Statements, including the annual 
audit report;

• appointing Board members and the 
National Chief Executive Officer (CEO);

• delegating clear responsibility and 
authority to the committees of 
the Board, the National CEO and 
management;

• monitoring and reviewing the 
performance of those who hold 
delegated powers;

• monitoring and reviewing processes 
and systems of risk management and 
internal compliance and control;

• overseeing the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia corporate 
governance framework;

• overseeing the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia processes for 
disclosure and communications; and

• reviewing and authorising 
major projects.

Composition of the Board

The Royal Flying Doctor Service 
of Australia seeks to have a Board 
comprising Directors with relevant 
knowledge, experience and expertise to 
deal with the current and emerging issues 
of the business, to review and challenge 
the performance of management, and 
to exercise independent judgment. The 
National Board currently comprises 
eight Director positions, with six Section 
representatives and two Independent 
Directors.

Independence of Directors

Directors have an overriding responsibility 
to perform their duties in the best 
interests of the Company. Directors 
are required to disclose, on an ongoing 
basis, any interest that could potentially 
conflict with those of the Company. In 
accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, and under the Board Charter, any 
Director with a material personal interest 
in a matter being considered by the Board 
must declare the possible conflict of 
interest. They must not be present when 
the matter is being considered and may 
not vote on the matter.

Operation of the Board

The Board and its committees meet 
regularly to review strategies and 
operational performance. The Chairman 
and National Chief Executive Officer 
communicate regularly to discuss issues 
relating to the business and to set Board 
agendas. In addition, Directors receive 
regular updates from management on key 
issues between Board meetings.

Governance
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Directors’ Report
For the financial year ended 30 June 2013

The directors of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia submit herewith the annual financial report of the company for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2013. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the directors report as follows:

Information about the directors and senior management 

The names and particulars of the directors of the company during or since the end of the financial year are:

Name Particulars 

Mr Michael Reid 
(Acting Chairman from November 2012)

Independent Director, Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia

Resides in Moss Vale, New South Wales

Appointed 28 February 2012

Major General Michael Jeffery 
AC, AO(Mil), CVO, MC (Retd) (Chairman)

Former Governor-General

Resides in the ACT

Appointed 14 November 2008 Resigned 16 November 2012

Mr Neville Bassett Director, Royal Flying Doctor Service Western Operations

Resides in Maida Vale, Western Australia

Appointed 30 June 2006 Resigned 16 November 2012

Mr David Hills Director, Royal Flying Doctor Service Central Operations

Resides Mount Pleasant, South Australia

Appointed 24 November 2006 Resigned 16 November 2012

Mr Mark Gray Director, Royal Flying Doctor Service Queensland Section

Resides in McDowall, Queensland

Appointed 13 November 2009

Mr Michael Hackman Vice President, Royal Flying Doctor Service Tasmanian Section

Resides in Sydney, New South Wales

Appointed 19 November 2010 Resigned 16 November 2012

Mr Murray Rogers AM Director, Royal Flying Doctor Service Victorian Section

Resides in Brighton, Victoria

Appointed 25 November 2011

Mr John Milhinch OAM Director, Royal Flying Doctor Service South Eastern Section

Resides in Pyrmont, New South Wales

Appointed 25 November 2011

Mr Richard Alder Director, Royal Flying Doctor Service Western Operations

Resides in Crawley, Western Australia

Appointed 16 November 2012

Ms Loretta Reynolds Director, Royal Flying Doctor Service Central Operations

Resides in Rosslyn Park, South Australia

Appointed 16 November 2012

Mr Malcolm White Director, Royal Flying Doctor Service Tasmanian Section

Resides in East Launceston, Tasmania

Appointed 16 November 2012

Ms Amanda Vanstone Independent Director, Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia

Resides in North Adelaide, South Australia

Appointed 4 September 2013

The above named directors held office during the whole of the financial year and since the end of the financial year except where stated.

Joint Company Secretaries 

Mr Greg Rochford, National Chief Executive (Appointed 14 March 2011)

Mr David Alley, National Director of Finance and Corporate Services (Appointed 25 November 2011)
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Principal activities

The principal activity of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia in the course of the financial year was to support the operating sections 
in the provision of health services in rural and remote areas of Australia. No significant changes in the nature of this activity occurred during 
the year.

Review of operations

The operating surplus of the company for the financial year was $1,638,058 (2012: surplus of $221,864). No income tax is payable as the 
company is exempt from paying such tax.

The company’s operation for the year was to receive and distribute amongst its member organisations Commonwealth operational 
and capital grants, donations, bequests and legacies, and to conduct the affairs of the company for the mutual benefit of its member 
organisations and people in rural and remote areas of Australia.

The day to day operations for the delivery of services are carried out by the operating sections.

Changes in state of affairs

There was no significant change in the state of affairs of the company during the financial year.

Subsequent events

There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year that has significantly affected, or 
may significantly affect, the operations of the company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the company in future 
financial years.

Future developments

Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the company in future financial years and the expected results 
of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the company. Accordingly, this information has not been disclosed in 
this report.

Indemnification of officers and auditors

The company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified or agreed 
to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.

Directors’ meetings

The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings held during the financial year and the number of meetings attended by 
each director. During the financial year, 6 meetings were held.

Board of Directors

Board of directors Eligible to attend Attended

Mr Michael Reid 6 6

Major General Michael Jeffery 
AC, AO(Mil), CVO, MC (Retd) 3 2

Mr Neville Bassett 3 3

Mr David Hills 3 2

Mr Mark Gray 6 4

Mr Michael Hackman 3 1

Mr Murray Rogers AM 6 6

Mr John Milhinch OAM 6 5

Mr Richard Alder 3 3

Ms Loretta Reynolds 3 3

Mr Malcolm White 3 3
 

Auditor’s independence declaration

The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 24 of the annual report.

This directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

Michael Reid 
Acting Chairman 
Sydney, 24 October 2013

Richard Alder 
Director 
Chairman Audit and Risk Committee 
Sydney, 24 October 2013
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060

Grosvenor Place
225 George Street
Sydney  NSW  2000
PO Box N250 Grosvenor Place
Sydney NSW 1220 Australia

DX: 10307SSE
Tel:  +61 (0) 2 9322 7000
Fax:  +61 (0) 9322 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
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Sydney  NSW  2000
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia
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Declaration in Respect of Fundraising Appeals
For the Financial Year ended 30 June 2013

Directors’ Declaration

I, Michael Reid, Acting Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia declare that in my opinion:

a) the financial report gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs with respect to fundraising appeals;

b) the provisions of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the regulations under that Act and the conditions attached to the authority 
have been complied with; and

c) the internal controls exercised by the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia are appropriate and effective in accounting for all 
income received.

On behalf of the Directors

Mr Michael Reid 
Acting Chairman of the Board of Directors 
Sydney, 24 October 2013

The directors declare that:

(a) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable; and

(b) in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the company; 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

Mr Michael Reid 
Acting Chairman 
Sydney, 24 October 2013

Richard Alder 
Director 
Chairman Audit and Risk Committee 
Sydney, 24 October 2013
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Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2013 $ 2012 $

Revenue 4 72,437,431 59,612,235

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale investments (93,412) (63,911)

Distributions to sections and programmes (68,463,117) (55,790,257)

National activities expense (831,113) (699,355)

Employee benefits expense 5 (1,848,501) (1,588,127)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (69,684) (35,894)

Operating expenses from in-kind contributions - (50,000)

Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments - (46,140)

Gain/(loss) on forward exchange contracts 1,321,304 (297,090)

Other administrative expenses (814,850) (819,597)

Net surplus for the year 5 1,638,058 221,864

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Gain/(loss) on available-for-sale financial assets 198,865 (158,720)

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,836,923 63,144
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2013

Note 2013 $ 2012 $

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 24,507,710 26,221,698

Trade and other receivables 7 9,383,206 3,066,298

Prepayments 40,126 37,708

Total current assets 33,931,042 29,325,704

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment 8 320,300 184,544

Other financial assets 9 1,847,873 1,186,925

Total non-current assets 2,168,173 1,371,469

Total assets 36,099,215 30,697,173

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 8,845,546 2,153,108

Other financial liabilities 11 - 199,888

Provisions 12 240,446 229,345

Trust fund liability 14 23,191,948 26,205,341

Total current liabilities 32,277,940 28,787,682

Non-current liabilities

Other financial liabilities 11 - 18,551

Total non-current liabilities - 18,551

Total liabilities 32,277,938 28,806,233

Net assets 3,821,275 1,890,940

Equity

Available-for-sale revaluation reserve 16 203,120 (89,157)

Retained earnings 17 3,618,155 1,980,097

Total equity 3,821,275 1,890,940
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Available for Sale 
Revaluation Reserve $ Retained Earnings $ Total Equity $

Balance at 1 July 2011 (40,488) 1,758,233  1,717,745

Net surplus for the year - 221,864 221,864

Other comprehensive loss for the year (158,720) - (158,720)

Total comprehensive income for the year (158,720) 221,864 63,144

Transfer to profit or loss on impairment of 
available-for-sale investments 46,140 - 46,140

Cumulative loss reclassified to profit or loss on sale of 
available-for-sale financial assets 63,911 - 63,911

Closing balance at 30 June 2012 (89,157) 1,980,097  1,890,940

Net surplus for the year - 1,638,058 1,638,058

Other comprehensive income for the year 198,865 - 198,865

Total comprehensive income for the year 198,865 1,638,058 1,836,923

Cumulative loss reclassified to profit or loss on sale of 
tavailable-for-sale financial assets 93,412 - 93,412

Closing balance at 30 June 2013 203,120 3,618,155 3,821,275
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2013 $ 2012 $

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from sections 1,480,816 1,072,725

Receipts from Commonwealth Government 72,091,076 69,747,465

Donations and legacies 4,951,521 2,650,876

Other receipts 412,749 913,034

Payments to suppliers and employees (4,326,383) (4,119,528)

Payments to sections (78,030,245) (61,925,200)

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities 19(b) (3,420,466) 8,339,372

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 1,400,069 684,489

Payments for property, plant and equipment (205,440) (173,717)

Dividends received 51,023 41,202

Net cash provided by investing activities 1,245,652 551,974

Cash flows from financing activities

Receipt/(payment) for settlement of forward exchange contracts 460,826 (173,912)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 460,826 (173,912)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,713,988) 8,717,434

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 26,221,698 17,504,264

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 19(a) 24,507,710 26,221,698



ACN 004 213 067 > For the financial year ended 30 June 201332   ROYAL FLYING DOCTOR SERVICE   |   NATIONAL OFFICE

1. General information 
The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (the company) is incorporated and operates in Australia.

The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia’s registered office and its principal place of business is as follows: 

Registered office and principal place of business

Level 8 
15 – 17 Young Street 
SYDNEY NSW 2000

The principal activity of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia in the course of the financial year was to support the operating sections 
in the provision of health services in rural and remote areas of Australia. No significant changes in the nature of this activity occurred during 
the year.

2. Significant accounting policies 

Statement of compliance

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and comply with other requirements of the law. For the purposes of 
preparing the financial statements, the company is a not-for-profit entity. 

Accounting Standards include Australian Accounting Standards. A statement of compliance with IFRS cannot be made due to the 
application of not for profit sector specific requirements contained in the A-IFRS.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for certain non-current assets and financial instruments 
that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values, as explained in the accounting policies below. Cost is based on the fair values of the 
consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the company’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods. 

Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported in the current period

Standards and Interpretations affecting presentation and disclosure

Amendments to AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’

AASB 2011-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income’ introduce new 
terminology for the statement of comprehensive income and income statement.

The amendments to AASB 101 require items of other comprehensive income to be grouped into two categories in the other comprehensive 
income section:

a) items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

b) items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. Income tax on items of other 
comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the same basis.

Standards and Interpretations affecting the reported results or financial position

There are no new and revised Standards and Interpretations adopted in these financial statements affecting the reported results or 
financial position.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2013
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2013

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial report:

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and have a maturity of three months or less at the 
date of acquisition. 

(b) Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

i.  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified within operating cash flows.

(c) Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

Rendering of services

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. 

Donations

Donations represent monies received into the company’s bank account.

Interest revenue

Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net 
carrying amount.

In-kind contributions

Revenue (and expense) from non-monetary in-kind contributions, in relation to time donated to the program without compensation from 
the program have been calculated based on actual costs incurred by the donees.

Dividend income

Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established.

(d) Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the company will comply with the conditions attaching to 
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are assistance by the government in the form of transfers of resources to the company in return for past or future 
compliance with certain conditions relating to the operating activities of the entity. Government grants include government assistance 
where there are no conditions specifically relating to the operating activities of the company other than the requirement to operate in certain 
regions or industry sectors.

(e) Income tax

The company is exempt from the payment of income tax.

(f) Trust fund liability

The trust fund liability represents a present obligation of amounts owed to Sections and other third parties.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g) Financial assets

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms 
require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net of 
transaction costs.

Other financial assets are classified into the following specific category: ‘available-for-sale’ financial assets. The classification depends on 
the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Certain shares held by the Company are classified as being available-for-sale and are stated at fair value. Fair value is determined in the 
manner described in note 20. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in the available-for-sale revaluation reserve with the exception of impairment losses which are recognised directly in profit 
and loss. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the 
available-for-sale revaluation reserve is included in profit or loss. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit 
or loss where the Company’s right to receive the dividend is established.

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are 
classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any 
impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate. 

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting date. 
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one or more events that occurred after 
the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected. For financial assets 
carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade 
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of 
the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not 
exceed the what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or 
loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the 
heading of investments revaluation reserve. In respect of available-for-sale debt securities, impairment losses are subsequently reversed 
through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition 
of the impairment loss.

(h) Plant and equipment

Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment and is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net cost or other revalued 
amount of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the 
period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual 
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes recognised on a 
prospective basis.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

The following rates are used in the calculation of depreciation:

Office equipment  15% – 20%

Leasehold improvements 60%
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(i) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that 
the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, 
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated 
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money 
is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable 
is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be 
measured reliably.

(j) Leased assets

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
of the leased asset to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic 
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising 
under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

(k) Employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, and long service leave when it is 
probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal values using 
the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the present 
value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the company in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date.

(l) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where 
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, 
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can 
be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or 
cash generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(m) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on 
an effective yield basis. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

(n) Derivative financial instruments

The company enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate risk including foreign exchange 
forward contracts. Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in Note 20.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their 
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(o) Standards and Interpretations issued not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the Standards and Interpretations listed below were in issue but not yet effective. 
The potential impact of new or revised Standards and Interpretations has not yet been determined, but is not expected to be material.

Standard/Interpretation

Effective for annual 
reporting periods 

beginning on or after

Expected to be 
initially applied in the 
financial year ending

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, and the relevant amending standards* 1 January 2015 30 June 2016

AASB 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’, AASB 2011-7 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ and AASB 2011-7 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 12 ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’ and AASB 2011-7 
‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation 
and Joint Arrangements Standards’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ and AASB 2011-8 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 119 ‘Employee Benefits’(2011) and AASB 2011-10 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (2011)’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 127 ‘Separate Financial Statements’ (2011) and AASB 2011-7 
‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation 
and Joint Arrangements Standards’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 128 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’(2011) and AASB 2011-7 
‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation 
and Joint Arrangements Standards’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2011-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove 
Individual Key Management Personnel Disclosure Requirements’ 1 July 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2012-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures 
– Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2012-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures 
– Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’ 1 January 2014 30 June 2015

AASB 2012-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2012-10 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Transition Guidance and Other Amendments’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2013-3 ‘Amendments to AASB 136 - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for 
Non-Financial Assets’ 1 January 2014 30 June 2015

AASB 2013-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting 1 January 2014 30 June 2015

AASB 2013-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Investment Entities’ 1 January 2014 30 June 2015

Interpretation 21 ‘Levies’ 1 January 2014 30 June 2015

3. Segment information 
The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia operates predominantly in one business segment being the provision of support to the 
operational Sections in the provision of health service in Australia.
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2013 $ 2012 $

4. Revenue
An analysis of the company’s revenue for the year is as follows:  

Operating revenue

Contributions from sections 1,425,000 1,100,000

Australian Government Operational Grants 60,537,879 48,550,000

Australian Government Mental Health Grant 420,329 717,014

Australian Government Rural Women’s GP Grant 3,541,000 4,210,999

Donations and legacies 4,951,521 2,650,876

In-kind contributions - 50,000

70,875,729 57,278,889

Other operating revenue

Interest 1,053,357 1,380,327

Dividend income 95,596 39,985

Other items 412,749 913,034

1,561,702 2,333,346

Total revenue 72,437,431 59,612,235

5. Surplus from operations
Surplus from operations for the year includes the following expenses: 

Depreciation of non-current assets 69,684 35,894

Minimum lease payments 103,052 109,571

Employee benefits expense:

Post employment benefits

  - Defined contribution plans 131,751 116,250

Other employee benefits 1,716,750 1,471,877

Total employee benefits expense 1,848,501 1,588,127

The increase in the surplus for 2013 was primarily caused by the foreign exchange gain of $1,321,304.  This gain was generated in part by 
the valuation of open forward exchange contracts with favourable contract rates compared to year end forward rates and in part by the 
retranslation of foreign currency at year end.  The company holds Capital Funding received from the Commonwealth Government in foreign 
currency and has entered into forward contracts to manage the risk of foreign exchange fluctuation over time.

6. Cash

National Office Cash

Federal account 1,447,045 142,913

Trust donation account 106,864 225,517

Professional funds account 129,115 790,688

Cash in investment portfolio 67,623 96,757

1,750,647 1,255,875

Trust Fund Assets

Commonwealth Funds – General Account 7,416,577 9,156,306

Commonwealth Funds – Term Deposit 7,887,978 14,887,918

Commonwealth Funds – US Dollar Account 7,452,482 891,560

Rural women’s GP 26 30,039

22,757,063 24,965,823

24,507,710 26,221,698
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7. Trade and other receivables
2013 $ 2012 $

Department of Health & Ageing Grant receivable 7,719,810 1,783,657

Dividend income receivable 51,736 7,163

Interest income receivable 476,782 823,494

Foreign exchange forward contract 179,955 -

Other receivables 204,200 260,015

GST receivable 750,723 191,969

9,383,206 3,066,298

No allowance has been made for irrecoverable receivables for 2012 and 2013. There are no receivables which are past due but not 
impaired. The average credit period is 30 days.

8. Plant and equipment  

Leasehold 
improvements at cost

Plant and equipment 
at cost Total

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 July 2011 24,538 294,732 319,270

Additions - 173,717 173,717

Disposals - (39,935) (39,935)

Balance at 1 July 2012 24,538 428,514 453,052

Additions - 205,440 205,440

Disposals - - -

Balance at 30 June 2013 24,538 633,954 658,492

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation

Balance at 1 July 2011 24,538 248,011 272,549

Disposals - (39,935) (39,935)

Depreciation expense - 35,894 35,894

Balance at 1 July 2012 24,538 243,970 268,508

Disposals - - -

Depreciation expense - 69,684 69,684

Balance at 30 June 2013 24,538 313,654 338,192

Net book value

As at 30 June 2012 - 184,544 184,544

As at 30 June 2013 - 320,300 320,300

Leasehold improvements represent the make good provision and are non-cash.

9. Other financial assets   
2013 $ 2012 $

Rental bond deposit 6,270 6,270

Foreign exchange forward contract 495,000 98,766

Available-for-sale investments carried at fair value:

Listed securities 1,346,603 1,081,889

1,847,873 1,186,925
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2013 $ 2012 $

10. Trade and other payables  

Trade payables (i) 8,563,308 1,589,022

Accruals 282,238 564,086

8,845,546 2,153,108

(i) The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 days. No interest is charged on overdue payables. The Company has financial 
risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

11. Other Financial Liabilities

Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts:

Current - 199,888

Non-Current - 18,551

Total - 218,439

12. Provisions  

Current

Employee benefits:

Annual leave (note 13) 146,354 140,351

Long service leave (note 13) 60,190 55,092

Make good provision in operating lease 33,902 33,902

240,446 229,345

13. Employee benefits
The aggregate employee benefit liability recognised and included in the financial statements is as follows:   

Provision for employee benefits:

Current (note 12) 206,544 195,443

206,544 195,443

 

2013 No. 2012 No.

Number of full-time employees at the year end 9 9

14. Trust fund liability 

2013 $ 2012 $

Commonwealth Funds 23,191,948 26,205,341

23,191,948 26,205,341

15. Contributed equity
No contributed equity has been issued as the company is limited by guarantee. If the company is wound up, the liability of the members is 
limited to $2 in meeting the liabilities of the company. At 30 June 2013 the number of members was 9 (2012: 9).
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2013 $ 2012 $

16. Available-for-sale revaluation reserve

Balance at beginning of the financial year (89,157) (40,488)

Valuation gain/(loss) recognised 198,865 (158,720)

Cumulative loss reclassified to profit or loss on sale of available-for-sale financial assets 93,412 63,911

Cumulative loss transferred to profit or loss on impairment of 
available-for-sale financial assets - 46,140

Balance at end of the financial year 203,120 (89,157)

The available-for-sale revaluation reserve represents accumulated gains and losses arising on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial 
assets that have been recognised in other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to profit or loss when those assets have 
been disposed of or are determined to be impaired.

17. Retained earnings

Balance at beginning of the financial year 1,980,097 1,758,233

Net surplus for the year 1,638,058 221,864

Balance at end of the financial year 3,618,155 1,980,097

18. Leases
The operating leases relate to the office premises. The company has neither an option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the 
lease period or to extend for further years.

  

Non-cancellable operating leases

Not longer than 1 year 90,208 48,288

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 147,268 -

237,476 48,288

19. Notes to the statement of cash flows

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in 
money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the 
statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as follows:

Federal account 1,447,045 142,913

Trust donation account 106,864 225,517

Professional funds account 129,115 790,688

Cash in investment portfolio 67,623 96,757

Commonwealth Funds - term deposit 7,887,978 14,887,918

Commonwealth Funds - US Dollar account 7,452,482 891,560

Commonwealth Funds - general account 7,416,577 9,156,306

Rural women’s GP 26 30,039

Cash and cash equivalents 24,507,710 26,221,698
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2013 $ 2012 $

19. Notes to the statement of cash flows (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of surplus for the year to net cash flows from operating activities

Surplus for the year 1,638,058 221,864

Interest received/receivable (1,400,069) (684,489)

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 69,684 35,894

Dividend income received/receivable (95,596) (39,985)

Loss on sale of available-for-sale financial assets 93,412 63,911

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets - 46,140

(Gain)/loss on forward exchange contracts (1,321,304) 297,090

Changes in net assets and liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Trade and other receivables (6,092,380) 10,406,688

Other financial assets (2,418) (37,708)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Trade and other payables 3,679,046 (2,019,870)

Provisions 11,101 49,837

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities (3,420,466) 8,339,372

20. Financial instruments 

(a)  Capital risk management

The company manages its capital to ensure it will continue as a going concern. The company’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 
2012. The capital structure of the company consists of cash and cash equivalents and retained earnings. Operating cash flows are used to 
maintain and expand the operations of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia.

(b)  Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 9,383,206 3,066,298

Foreign Exchange Forward Contract 495,000 98,766

Cash and cash equivalents 1,750,647 1,255,875

Trust fund assets 22,757,063 24,965,823

Available-for-sale investments 1,346,603 1,081,889

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 8,845,546 2,153,108

Trust fund liability 23,191,948 26,205,341

Foreign Exchange Forward Contract - 218,439

(c) Financial risk management objectives

The company does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. The 
company’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates and currency risk which is mitigated through the 
use of derivative financial instruments.

(d) Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the 
basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are 
disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements.
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20. Financial instruments (continued)

(e) Market risk

The company’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. In the current 
financial year the company has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on the purchase of 
aircraft. The company has not used any derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. There has been no change 
to the company’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the interest rate risk from the previous period.

(f) Interest rate risk management

The exposure to interest rate risk is limited to the impact of any changes on the cash and trust fund assets balances 
of $24,507,710 (2012: $26,221,698).

These cash balances earn interest at an average rate of 2.96% (2012: 4.87%) per annum.

(g) Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the company. The 
company has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a 
means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. 

The company does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar 
characteristics.

(h)  Fair value of financial instruments

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements approximates 
their fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements.

Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped 
into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

                                       Level 1 $ Total $

Financial assets 30/06/2013

Equity securities 1,346,603 1,346,603

Financial assets 30/06/2012

Equity securities 1,081,889 1,081,889

(i) Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, who have built an appropriate liquidity risk 
management framework for the management of the company’s short, medium and long term funding and liquidity management 
requirements. The company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities by monitoring forecast and 
actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The company also uses a trade receivables and trade 
payables finance facility to manage its liquidity risk.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following table details the company’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been drawn 
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the company can be required to pay. 
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Liabilities

Weighted 
average effective 

interest rate %
Less than 1 

month $ 1 - 3 months $
3 months 
- 1 year $ 1 - 5 years $ 5+ years $

2013

Non-interest bearing - - 8,845,546 23,191,948 - -

Variable interest rate 
instruments - - - - - -

- 8,845,546 23,191,948 - -

2012

Non-interest bearing - - 2,153,125 26,405,212 18,551 -

Variable interest rate 
instruments - - - - - -

- 2,153,125 26,405,212 18,551 -
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The following table details the company’s expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets. The table below has been drawn up 
based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets except where 
the company anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period.

Assets

Weighted 
average effective 

interest rate %
Less than 

1 month $ 1 - 3 months $
3 months 
- 1 year $ 1 - 5 years $ 5+ years $

2013

Non-interest bearing - 9,383,206 - - 1,346,603 -

Variable interest rate 
instruments 2.96 7,645,666 16,219,802 - - -

Fixed interest rate 
instruments 6.14 - - 8,009,113 - -

17,028,872 16,219,802 8,009,113 1,346,603 -

2012

Non-interest bearing - 3,066,298 - - 1,081,889 -

Variable interest rate 
instruments 3.15 1,265,431 10,156,616 - - -

Fixed interest rate 
instruments 6.17 - 15,117,525 - - -

4,331,729 25,274,141 - 1,081,889 -

The following table details the Company’s liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments. The table has been drawn up based on 
the undiscounted contractual net cash inflows and outflows on derivative instruments that settle on a net basis, and the undiscounted 
gross inflows and outflows on those derivatives that require gross settlement. When the amount payable or receivable is not fixed, the 
amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield curves at the end of the 
reporting period.

Less than 
1 month $ 1 - 3 months $

3 months 
- 1 year $ 1 - 5 years $ 5+ years $

2013

Gross Settled 
- Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts - - 2,648,911 5,679,110 -

- - 2,648,911 5,679,110 -

2012

Gross Settled 
- Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts - 1,723,895 5,581,311 7,293,833 -

- 1,723,895 5,581,311 7,293,833 -

The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts outstanding at the end of the reporting period:

Outstanding Contracts Average Exchange Rate Foreign Currency Notional Value
Fair Value 

of Hedge Instrument

2013 $ 2012 $ 2013 US$ 2012 US$ 2013 $ 2012 $ 2013 $ 2012 $

Forward foreign 
currency contracts

1 to 3 months - 1.000 - 1,723,878 - 1,723,895 - 17

3 months to 1 year 1.114 1.037 2,380,320 5,381,440 2,648,911 5,581,311 (179,955) 199,871

1 to 5 years 1.136 0.989 4,998,000 7,374,048 5,679,110 7,293,833 (495,000) (80,215)

(674,955) 119,673
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2013

21. Key management personnel compensation

Details of key management personnel

The directors and other members of key management personnel of the company during the year were:

Directors

Major General Michael Jeffery AC, AO(Mil), CVO, MC (Retd) (resigned 16 November 2012)

David Hills (resigned 16 November 2012)

Neville Bassett 

Mark Gray 

Michael Hackman (resigned 16 November 2012)

Murray Rogers

John Milhinch

Michael Reid

Richard Alder (appointed 16 November 2012)

Loretta Reynolds (appointed 16 November 2012)

Malcolm White (appointed 16 November 2012)

Other key management personnel

Greg Rochford – National Chief Executive Officer

David Alley – National Director of Finance and Corporate Services

Dr Hugh Burke – National Director Policy and Planning

Janice Hoogeveen, National Marketing Director (resigned 10th May 2013)

Rebecca Wyles, National Corporate Affairs and Marketing Director (appointed 16th May 2013)

The aggregate compensation made to other key management personnel of the company is set out below:

 2013 $ 2012 $

Short-term employee benefits 966,843 864,347

The directors received no compensation for their services to the company in respect of the financial year.
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22. Information required by Condition 7 3(c)(vi) of the 
Authority Conditions pursuant to the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991

2013 $ 2012 $

Gross income from fundraising:

Donations and legacies 4,951,521 2,643,849

Listed securities - 7,027

4,951,521 2,650,876

Total costs of fundraising (77,154) (95,009)

Funds disbursed for Royal Flying Doctor projects (4,429,056) (2,352,546)

Excess of total income from fundraising over funds disbursed 445,311 203,321

% %

Total costs to gross income from fundraising 1.56 3.58

Net excess to gross income from fundraising 8.99 7.67

Total disbursements for projects to total expenditure 89.45 96.12

Total disbursements for projects to total income received 91.01 92.33

It is the policy of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia to distribute all donations, legacies and sponsorships which comprise its 
fundraising activities to each of its Sections, other than an amount approved by Board Resolution to be retained by the National Office 
up to $250,000 per annum. Given the nature of these activities, it has minimal costs associated with fundraising. Furthermore, due to the 
timing of receipts and payments it is considered reasonable that gross income may exceed funds disbursed or that funds disbursed may 
exceed gross income at year end.

23. Remuneration of auditors
Amounts received, or due and receivable, by the auditors from the company and any related body corporate is as follows:

Auditing the financial statements and grant funding agreements 36,650 33,600

Consulting and other assurance services - 58,300

36,650 91,900

The auditor of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

24. Related party disclosures
During the current financial year, there were no related party transactions or balances at the year-end.

25. Subsequent events
There has not arisen during the interval between the end of the reporting period and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of 
a material and unusual nature that has, in the opinion of the Directors of the company, significantly affected or may significantly affect the 
operations of the company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the company in subsequent financial years.
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Section Aviation Statistics

NUMBER OF LANDINGS KILOMETRES FLOWN BLOCK HOURS

Number 
of Aircraft RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total

Central Operations 

Alice Springs 6 3,753 483 4,236 1,906,746 172,859 2,079,605 5,119 457 5,576 

Adelaide 4 6,726 6,726 2,008,768 2,008,768 5,326 5,326 

Port Augusta 3 4,083 4,083 1,261,764 1,261,764 3,338 3,338 

TOTAL 13* 14,562 483 15,045 5,177,278 172,859 5,350,137 13,783 457 14,240 

Queensland Section

Brisbane 2 4,008 256 4,264 1,281,215 52,125 1,333,340 3,926 187 4,113 

Bundaberg 1 2,692 - 2,692 705,203 - 705,203 2,279 - 2,279 

Cairns 5 4,043 256 4,299 1,402,892 55,751 1,458,643 4,535 232 4,767 

Charleville 1 1,319 - 1,319 530,783 - 530,783 1,612 - 1,612 

Longreach - - - - - - - - - - 

Mt Isa 4 2,433 - 2,433 689,459 - 689,459 2,130 - 2,130 

Rockhampton 3 3,737 - 3,737 1,346,385 - 1,346,385 3,951 - 3,951 

Roma 1 470 - 470 143,017 - 143,017 441 - 441 

Townsville 2 3,371 169 3,540 1,498,124 38,998 1,537,121 4,112 156 4,268 

TOTAL 19 22,073 681 22,754 7,597,078 146,873 7,743,951 22,986 575 23,560 

South Eastern Section

Broken Hill 4 2,162 16 2,178 631,193 4,226 635,419 2,112 16 2,128 

Dubbo 2 2,494 2,494 533,970 533,970 1,760 1,760 

Gonski Dental 1 492 28 520 132,455 7,149 139,604 409 25 434 

Bankstown 1 369 706 1,075 105,971 186,830 292,801 344 696 1,040 

Launceston 2 2,228 2,228 469,960 469,960 1,819 1,819 

Essendon 1 495 495 168,175 168,175 530 530 

Mascot 8 10,034 10,034 2,910,759 2,910,759 9,775 9,775 

TOTAL 19 18,274 750 19,024 4,952,483 198,205 5,150,688 16,749 737 17,486 

Western Operations

Derby 3 2,838 1,420 4,258 1,311,725 192,462 1,504,187 3,967 769 4,735 

Jandakot 4 6,386 419 6,805 2,362,385 44,091 2,406,476 7,460 224 7,685 

Kalgoorlie 2 2,019 249 2,268 970,315 79,568 1,049,882 2,893 317 3,210 

Meekatharra 2 1,967 99 2,066 1,120,119 21,187 1,141,306 3,226 91 3,317 

Port Hedland 3 2,437 600 3,037 1,469,903 130,975 1,600,878 4,158 475 4,633 

Perth Airport 1 438 16 454 631,614 36,368 667,981 988 52 1,039 

TOTAL 15 16,085 2,803 18,888 7,866,061 504,650 8,370,710 22,692 1,928 24,620 

GRAND TOTAL 66 70,994 4,717 75,711 25,592,900 1,022,586 26,615,486 76,210 3,697 79,906 

* Central Operations excludes 1 aircraft withdrawn from aeromedical service for re-fit to commuter configuration.
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Aviation Statistics

Total All Sections

NUMBER OF LANDINGS KILOMETRES FLOWN BLOCK TIME (HOURS)

Year
Number of 

Aircraft RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total

2012/2013 66* 70,994 4,717 75,711 25,592,900 1,022,586 26,615,486 76,210 3,697 79,906 

2011/2012 65# 69,477 4,671 74,148 25,490,128 1,107,568 26,597,696 77,185 3,801 80,986

2010/2011 64* 71,017 4,701 75,718 25,598,693 1,270,997 26,869,690 77,114 3,845 80,959

2009/2010 60 68,696 5,518 74,214 24,383,443 1,209,012 25,592,455 72,895 4,470 77,365

2008/2009 53 65,141 6,629 71,770 22,414,964 1,508,476 23,923,440 67,786 5,425 73,211

2007/2008 51 62,566 6,458 69,024 21,738,198 1,442,240 23,180,438 65,256 5,320 70,576

2006/2007 47 60,013 5,061 65,074 20,656,438 1,058,157 21,714,595 61,685 4,113 65,798

2005/2006 50 58,416 4,595 63,011 19,535,099 907,975 20,443,074 57,597 3,784 61,381

2004/2005 47 55,542 2,315 57,857 18,515,809 1,008,550 19,524,359 54,607 4,225 58,832

2003/2004 45 56,008 2,004 58,012 18,428,169 1,092,198 19,520,367 56,050 4,213 60,263

2002/2003 36 37,024 1,347 38,371 13,732,239 338,564 14,070,803 40,269 1,402 41,672

2001/2002 40 45,313 3,897 49,210 15,544,830 1,037,661 16,602,491 45,681 4,012 49,693

2000/2001 42 36,307 3,930 40,237 14,811,922 1,175,306 15,987,228 43,141 4,319 47,459

1999/2000 40 39,600 3,882 43,482 13,538,175 1,018,235 14,556,410 40,319 3,884 44,203

1998/1999 41 39,513 2,919 42,432 12,681,197 1,006,715 13,687,912 39,405 3,760 43,165

1997/1998 40 36,415 3,624 40,039 12,544,579 803,889 13,348,468 35,957 2,999 38,956

1996/1997 38 31,613 3,118 34,731 11,202,447 724,765 11,927,212 32,230 2,737 34,967

1995/1996 38 31,289 2,730 34,019 10,732,934 583,434 11,316,368 31,645 2,199 33,844

1994/1995 36 27,548 2,303 29,851 8,940,914 542,519 9,483,433 26,786 1,958 28,744

1993/1994 37 25,589 1,647 27,236 8,401,110 290,430 8,691,540 25,377 1,124 26,501

1992/1993 37 24,963 2,509 27,472 8,301,017 473,512 8,774,529 25,711 1,738 27,449

1991/1991 37 23,420 2,982 26,402 7,638,207 615,210 8,253,417 24,301 2,305 26,606

* 2012/13 Number of Aircraft includes 3 aircraft to be sold in South Eastern Section

#  2011/12 Number of Aircraft includes 1 aircraft to be sold in South Eastern Section and 3 aircraft in Central Operations to be replaced 
within operational fleet
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Aviation Statistics

Central Operations Aircraft Register      

Registration 
Letters Description

Year of 
Manufacture

Date of 
Acquisition Name

Location 
(where 
applicable)

Sponsor 
(where applicable)

VH-FMP Pilatus PC-12 1995 Sep-95 ADL

VH-FMW Pilatus PC-12 1995 Sep-95 ASP

VH-FMZ
Pilatus PC-12 1996 Mar-96

Roy & Marjory 
Edwards ASP

VH-FDE Pilatus PC-12 2000 Sep-00 ADL

VH-FGR Pilatus PC-12 2001 Dec-01 ASP

VH-FGS Pilatus PC-12 2001 Dec-01 ADL

VH-FGT Pilatus PC-12 2001 Dec-01 ASP

VH-FDK Pilatus PC-12 2002 Dec-03 ADL

VH-FDJ Pilatus PC-12 2007 Jan-08 Beth Steward Klugh ASP

VH-FVA
Pilatus PC-12 2009 Mar-10

Our Auxiliaries & 
Support Groups ASP

Variety – The 
Childrens’s Charity

VH-FVB Pilatus PC-12 2010 Apr-10 ADL BHP Biliton

VH-FVD
Pilatus PC-12 2010 Jul-10

Our Inaugural 
Doctors ADL

Li-Ka Shing 
Foundation

VH-FVE
Pilatus PC-12 2010 Sep-10

Our Pioneering 
Women ADL

VH-FVF Pilatus PC-12 2010 Oct-10 Barry Lodge OAM ADL Oz Minerals

TOTAL AIRCRAFT 14 

Queensland Section Aircraft Register      

Registration 
Letters Description

Year of 
Manufacture

Date of 
Acquisition Name

Location 
(where 
applicable)

Sponsor 
(where applicable)

VH-NQA Beechcraft King Air B200C 1982 Apr-91 Cairns

VH-FFI Beechcraft King Air B200 1982 Feb-95 Mount Isa

VH-FDD
Beechcraft Super King Air 
B200SE 2000 Apr-00 Cairns

VH-FDF
Beechcraft Super King Air 
B200SE 2000 Apr-00 Cairns

VH-FDC Pilatus PC-12 2001 Nov-01 Mount Isa

VH-NQB Pilatus PC-12 2001 Nov-01 Mount Isa

VH-FDP Pilatus PC-12 2001 Nov-01 Charleville

VH-FDR Beechcraft King Air B200 2004 Dec-04 Rockhampton

VH-FDW Beechcraft King Air B200 2004 Dec-04 Rockhampton

VH-FDZ Beechcraft King Air B200 2004 Dec-04 Roma

VH-FDB Beechcraft King Air B200 2007 May-07 Townsville

VH-FDA Beechcraft King Air B200 2007 Aug-07 Bundaberg

VH-FDT Beechcraft King Air B200 2007 Oct-07 Brisbane

VH-FDG Beechcraft King Air B200 2009 Jul-09 Mount Isa

VH-NQC Cessna C208 2009 Oct-09 Cairns

VH-NQD Cessna C208 2009 Oct-09 Cairns

VH-FDS Beechcraft King Air B200C 2010 Sep-10 Townsville

VH-FDI Beechcraft King Air B200C 2010 Nov-10 Rockhampton

VH-FDM Beechcraft King Air B200C 2010 Nov-10 Brisbane

TOTAL AIRCRAFT 19 
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Aviation Statistics

South Eastern Section Aircraft Register      

Registration 
Letters Description

Year of 
Manufacture

Date of 
Acquisition Name

Location 
(where 
applicable)

Sponsor 
(where applicable)

VH-MSZ * Beecraft Kingair B200 1981 Dec-86 Fred McKay

VH-MSM * Beecraft Kingair B200 1993 Jun-96

VH-MVL * Beecraft Kingair B200 1989 Oct-97 Outback Car Trek

VH-MVY * Beecraft Kingair B200 1989 Sep-98 Flying Doctor Society

VH-MVS Beecraft Kingair B200 2002 Jun-03

VH-MVP Beecraft Kingair B200 2002 Sep-03

VH-MSH Beecraft Kingair B200 2001 Sep-03

VH-MWV Beecraft Kingair B200 2003 Dec-03 Kaye Melmeth

VH-MVJ Beecraft Kingair B200 2003 Jul-04 Lady Nancy

VH-MVW
Beecraft Kingair B200 2007 May-07

Royal Flying Doctor 
Service Friends

VH-MWK Beecraft Kingair B200C 2008 Dec-08

VH-MVX Beecraft Kingair B200C 2008 Dec-08

VH-MWH Beecraft Kingair B200 2008 Dec-08

VH-NAJ Beecraft Kingair B350C 2011 Mar-12

VH-NAO Beecraft Kingair B350C 2011 Apr-12

VH-AMR Beecraft Kingair B200C 2011 Jun-12

VH-AMS Beecraft Kingair B200C 2011 Aug-12

VH-AMQ Beecraft Kingair B200C 2011 Sep-12

VH-LTQ Beecraft Kingair B200C 2013 May-13 Tasmania

TOTAL AIRCRAFT 19 

* 4 Aircraft to be sold

Western Operations Aircraft Register      

Registration 
Letters Description

Year of 
Manufacture

Date of 
Acquisition Name

Location 
(where 
applicable)

Sponsor 
(where applicable)

VH-KWO Pilatus PC-12 2001 Jun-01 Wesfarmers

VH-MWO Pilatus PC-12 2001 Aug-01 Chevron

VH-NWO Pilatus PC-12 2001 Nov-01 Woodside

VH-VWO Pilatus PC-12 2002 Dec-01 BHP Billiton

VH-ZWO Pilatus PC-12 2004 Feb-04 Barrick Gold

VH-YWO Pilatus PC-12 2006 Sep-06

VH-OWA Pilatus PC-12 2009 Jun-09

VH-OWP Pilatus PC-12 2008 Aug-08

VH-OWQ Pilatus PC-12 2008 Nov-08

VH-OWR Pilatus PC-12 2008 Jan-09

VH-RIO Hawker 800XP 2002 Oct-09 Perth Airport Rio Tinto

VH-OWB Pilatus PC-12 2009 Dec-09

VH-OWD Pilatus PC-12 2009 Jan-10

VH-OWG Pilatus PC-12 2009 Mar-10

VH-OWI Pilatus PC-12 2010 Dec-10

TOTAL AIRCRAFT 15 

TOTAL AIRCRAFT – ALL SECTIONS  67 ( Includes planned disposals for 2014)

TOTAL AIRCRAFT ADJUSTED FOR DISPOSALS  63 
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Health Statistics
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BASE/
LOCATION TELEHEALTH PATIENTS ATTENDED

Radio Telephone

Video 
Conference 

or other TOTAL

General 
Practice 

Clinics
Nursing 

Clinics

RFDS 
Other 

Clinics

RFDS 
Facilitated 

Clinics

RFDS 
Medical 
Services Inpatients

Dental 
Clinics

Rural 
Women’s 

GP 
Program TOTAL

Central Operations

Alice Springs  -    -    -    -    -    -    384  15,084  -    -    -    -    15,468 

Tennant Creek  -    -    -    -    4,107  3,446  -    -    -    -    -    -    7,553 

Adelaide  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    139  2,113  2,252 

Port Augusta  -    5,620  -    5,620  2,205  1,115  -    3,765  -    -    -    -    7,085 

Marree  -    631  -    631  -    3,228  -    -    -    -    -    -    3,228 

TOTAL  -    6,251  -    6,251  6,312  7,789  384  18,849  -    -    139  2,113  35,586 

Queensland Section

Brisbane  -    6,278  96  6,374  -    -    -    43  -    -    -    2,580  2,623 

Bundaberg  -    4,461  32  4,493  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Cairns  3  9,500  44  9,547  11,825  9,934  7,674  85  -    -    -    1,663  31,181 

Charleville  1  2,278  41  2,320  2,907  2,006  -    16  -    -    -    -    4,929 

Longreach  -    349  31  380  -    -    973  -    -    -    -    -    973 

Mount Isa  -    4,871  1  4,872  3,890  1,251  61  19  -    -    -    -    5,221 

Rockhampton  -    6,439  23  6,462  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Townsville  1  5,791  28  5,820  811  468  -    -    -    -    -    -    1,279 

Mobile Dental 
Service  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    1,099  -    1,099 

TOTAL  5  39,967  296  40,268  19,433  13,659  8,708  163  -    -    1,099  4,243  47,305 

South Eastern Section

Broken Hill  -    5,060  -    5,060  8,036  591  1,066  -    160  -    2,715  -    12,568 

Dubbo  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    1,816  -    1,816 

Cooper Basin  -    -    -    -    221  -    5,790  -    -    -    -    -    6,011 

Bankstown  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    15,716  -    -    -    -    15,716 

NSW  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    2,411  2,411 

VIC  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    1,003  1,003 

TAS  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    766  766 

TOTAL  -    5,060  -    5,060  8,257  591  6,856  15,716  160  -    4,531  4,180  40,291 

Western Operations

Derby  -    6,505  -    6,505  960  2,553  -    4,861  -    -    -    -    8,374 

Jandakot  4  12,441  -    12,445  -    -    -    1,674  135  93  639  3,936  6,477 

Kalgoorlie  1  8,009  -    8,010  1,016  58  -    -    1  224  -    -    1,299 

Meekatharra  3  6,287  -    6,290  921  -    -    -    5,440  2,095  -    -    8,456 

Port Hedland  3  4,684  -    4,687  1,688  296  -    3,524  25  163  -    -    5,696 

Perth Airport  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

TOTAL  11  37,926  -    37,937  4,585  2,907  -    10,059  5,601  2,575  639  3,936  30,302 

Victoria

Northern Mallee  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    505  -    505 

TOTAL  -    -    -   -  -    -   - - - -  505 -  505 

TOTAL ALL 
SECTIONS  16  89,204  296  89,516  38,587  24,946  15,948  44,787  5,761  2,575  6,913  14,472  153,989 

Previous Years

2011/2012  77  88,117  336  88,530  37,436  -    40,505  40,925 7,102  2,148  -   16,380 144,496 

2010/2011  14  92,608  460  93,082  37,765  -    32,201  49,293  6,592  1,978  -    16,874  144,703 

2009/2010  40  91,237  346  91,623  38,478  -    32,457  46,527  6,532  2,535  -    18,977  145,506
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Health Statistics

BASE / LOCATION NUMBER OF CLINICS CONDUCTED NUMBER OF PATIENTS TRANSPORTED
IMMUNIS- 

ATIONS

General 
Practice 

Clinics
Nursing 

Clinics

RFDS 
Other 

Clinics

RFDS 
Facilitated 

Clinics
Dental 
Clinics

Rural 
Women’s 

GP 
Program TOTAL

Primary 
Evacuations

Inter-
hospital 

Transfers

Patients 
Transported 
from a clinic Repatriations TOTAL TOTAL

Central Operations

Alice Springs  -  -  -  1,099  -  -  1,099  1,537  1,017  -  37  2,591  - 

Tennant Creek  252  242  -  -  -  -  494  -  -  -  -  -  286 

Adelaide  -  -  -  -  5  221  226  25  4,407  -  56  4,488  - 

Port Augusta  215  196  -  872  -  -  1,283  65  1,623  46  15  1,749  551 

Marree  -  504  -  44  -  -  548  -  -  -  -  -  14 

TOTAL  467  942  -  2,015  5  221  3,650  1,627  7,047  46  108  8,828  851 

Queensland Section

Brisbane  -  -  -  5  -  199  204  6  2,279  -  11  2,296  - 

Bundaberg  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,693  -  15  1,708  - 

Cairns  1,090  1,218  700  15  -  195  3,218  508  537  -  5  1,050  3,022 

Charleville  233  279  -  3  -  -  515  76  339  21  9  445  1,573 

Longreach  -  -  505  -  -  -  505  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Mount Isa  286  211  44  6  -  -  547  468  398  16  -  882  722 

Rockhampton  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  17  2,488  -  12  2,517  - 

Townsville  49  44  -  -  -  -  93  36  2,180  -  11  2,227  163 

Mobile Dental 
Service  -  -  -  -  127  -  127  -  -  -  -  -  - 

TOTAL  1,658  1,752  1,249  29  127  394  5,209  1,111  9,914  37  63  11,125  5,480 

South Eastern Section

Broken Hill  853  155  550  17  336  -  1,911  340  443  -  -  783  282 

Dubbo  -  -  -  -  261  -  261  273  701  -  -  974  - 

Cooper Basin  46  -  1,143  -  -  -  1,189  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Bankstown  -  -  -  1,003  -  -  1,003  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Launceston  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,012  -  -  1,012  - 

Essendon  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  273  -  -  273  - 

Mascot  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  5,573  -  -  5,573  - 

NSW  -  -  -  -  -  215  215  -  -  -  -  -  - 

VIC  -  -  -  -  -  85  85  -  -  -  -  -  - 

TAS  -  -  -  -  -  64  64  -  -  -  -  -  - 

TOTAL  899  155  1,693  1,020  597  364  4,728  613  8,002  -  -  8,615  282 

Western Operations

Derby  86  216  520  -  -  822  414  860  220  80  1,574  352 

Jandakot  -  -  189  68  314  571  252  3,660  2  78  3,992  33 

Kalgoorlie  180  30  -  -  -  210  285  858  5  23  1,171  57 

Meekatharra  82  -  -  -  -  82  220  522  -  4  746  39 

Port Hedland  168  43  303  -  -  514  391  882  32  15  1,320  34 

Perth Airport  -  -  -  -  -  -  7  269  -  13  289  - 

TOTAL  516  289  -  1,012  68  314  2,199  1,569  7,051  259  213  9,092  515 

Victoria

Road Transport  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  13,723  -  -  13,723  - 

Air Transport  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  268  -  -  268  - 

Northern Mallee  -  -  -  33  -  33  -  -  -  -  -  - 

TOTAL  -  -  -  -  33  -  33  -  13,991  -  -  13,991  - 

TOTAL ALL 
SECTIONS  3,540  3,138  2,942  4,076  830  1,293 

 
15,819  4,920  46,005  342  384  51,651  7,128 

Previous Years

2011/2012  3,565  -  5,511  3,904  -  1,432 14,412  4,964  31,872  368  424  40,705  6,312 

2010/2011  3,609  -  5,248  3,647  -  1,432 13,936  4,620  34,815  418  469  40,322  5,908 

2009/2010  3,503  -  5,124  3,599  -  1,565 13,791  4,881  33,138  394  439  38,852  7,305
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Employment Statistics

Staff Employed (Headcount) as at 30 June 2013      

Central 
Operations

Queensland 
Section

South 
Eastern 
Section

Western 
Operations

Victorian 
Section

National 
Office Total

F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T

Administration 25 8 63 27 21 6 35 26 5 12 9 1 158 80

Allied Health - - - - - - - - 5 87 - - 5 87

Dental - - - - 4 - - 3 - 1 - - 4 4

Engineers / Engineering Support 15 - 4 - 32 1 14 1 - - - - 65 2

General Hands - 1 - - - - 2 1 - - - - 2 2

Health Promotion - 3 - 3 - - 4 7 1 - - - 5 13

Indigenous Health Workers / Liaison Staff 1 - 16 8 - - - - - - - - 17 8

Medical Practitioners 8 3 6 4 8 - 22 37 - - - - 44 44

Medical Specialist - - 14 45 - 8 - 7 - - - - 14 60

Mental Health / Drug & Alcohol 2 - 34 3 4 - - - - - - - 40 3

Operational Coordinators 2 - - - - - 17 - 2 - - - 21 0

Paramedics - - - - - - - - - - - - 0 0

Pilots 33 2 62 1 47 2 43 2 - - - - 185 7

Public Relations / Fundraising 7 - 6 5 7 7 7 - 4 5 - - 31 17

Radio Staff / Tasking Coordinators 9 3 - - 2 1 - - - - - - 11 4

Registered Nurses 29 18 58 24 21 5 19 28 - - - - 127 75

Tourist Facilities / Merchandising / Other 3 18 - - 1 3 2 1 - - - - 6 22

Total Staff Headcount  * 134 56 263 120 147 33 165 113 17 105 9 1 735 428

GRAND TOTAL  1,163

* Includes casual employees

Full Time Equivalent (FTE) – Staff Employed as at 30 June 2013

Central 
Operations

Queensland 
Section

South 
Eastern 
Section

Western 
Operations

Victorian 
Section

National 
Office Total

FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE

Administration 30.80 76.59 25.00 50.80 14.10 9.30 206.59

Allied Health - - - - 71.40 - 71.40

Dental - - 4.00 1.50 0.60 - 6.10

Engineers / Engineering Support 15.00 4.00 32.50 14.70 - - 66.20

General Hands 0.90 - - 2.40 - - 3.30

Health Promotion 1.40 1.60 - 7.80 1.00 - 11.80

Indigenous Health Workers / Liaison Staff 1.00 19.20 - - - - 20.20

Medical Practitioners 8.50 6.75 8.00 35.22 - - 58.47

Medical Specialist - 25.19 0.50 3.78 - - 29.47

Mental Health / Drug & Alcohol 2.00 36.40 3.50 - - - 41.90

Operational Coordinators 2.00 - - 17.00 2.00 - 21.00

Paramedics - - - - - - 0.00

Pilots 34.00 62.00 48.00 44.30 - - 188.30

Public Relations / Fundraising 7.00 7.10 11.90 7.00 7.60 - 40.60

Radio Staff / Tasking Coordinators 11.40 - 2.50 - - - 13.90

Registered Nurses 35.30 62.60 24.00 43.50 - - 165.40

Tourist Facilities / Merchandising / Other 8.00 - 3.00 2.20 - - 13.20

Total Staff FTE 157.30 301.43 162.90 230.20 96.70 9.30 957.83
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Our Traditional Services

Our Traditional Services      

Royal Flying Doctor Service Traditional Services are funded by the Commonwealth government and include Primary Evacuations, GP and 
Nursing Clinics, Remote Consultations and Medical Chests.

In the table below our activity under these service areas is shown for the last 6 years.

Traditional Services Activity 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

Primary Evacuations  4,386  4,149  4,609  4,591  4,964  4,920 

GP Clinics  3,236  2,957  3,019  2,894  3,054  2,941 

Patient Contacts at GP Clinics  28,810  30,311  30,554  29,759  31,018  31,287 

Nursing Clinics  1,373  1,433  1,411  1,376  1,587  1,427 

Patient Contacts at Nursing Clinics  9,852  11,464  9,670  9,588  10,432  11,474 

Remote Consultations  65,215  62,593  70,109  69,688  63,377  65,126 

Medical Chests  2,733  2,737  2,551  2,419  2,431  2,568
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Our Supporters

We would like to thank all of our 
supporters from around Australia. 
Your loyalty and generosity enables 
the Royal Flying Doctor Service to 
provide vital health care across our 
vast continent.  

Thank you to our staff around 
the country who work tirelessly 
to provide the finest care in the 
furthest corner.  

The Royal Flying Doctor Service 
National Office is also grateful for the 
support received in 2012-13 from:

The Qantas Foundation

The Australian

King & Wood Mallesons
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This year the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service celebrated 85 years of providing 
the finest care to the furthest corner. 
With 21 bases, 63 aircraft and over 
1000 staff, more than 290,000 patients 
have this year benefited from the 
‘mantle of safety’ Royal Flying Doctor 
Service founder Reverend John Flynn 
envisaged for communities living 
in rural and remote Australia.

Demand for Royal Flying Doctor Service 
services is higher than ever, with many 
remote communities relying on the 
Flying Doctor as the only provider of 
primary medical care. With one patient 
contact every two minutes, we are 
the largest rural and remote health 
service provider and go where few 
would venture.
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Setting the course 
for a modern service

Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia

National Office 
Level 8, 15-17 Young Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
T 02 8259 8100 
F 02 9247 3351 
W www.flyingdoctor.org.au 

How you can help
Whilst the Royal Flying Doctor Service receives some 
support from Commonwealth, State and Territory 
governments, we rely heavily on fundraising and donations 
from the community to purchase and medically equip our 
aircraft and to support other health initiatives.

 
Send a cheque (made payable to the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia) to: 
RFDS National Office 
Level 8, 15-17 Young Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

 
Phone us on 02 8259 8100 or 1800 467 435 
Visit our website www.flyingdoctor.org.au
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